U.S. BANKRUPTCY COURT
LEORTHEIN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

ENTERED

THE DATE OF ENTRY IS ON THE COURTS DOCKET WANA C. MARSHALL, CLERK D. Michael Lynn
U.S. Bankruptcy Judge

OCT 27 2003

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS FORT WORTH DIVISION

In re:) Chapter 11
mrc.) Chapter 11
PILGRIM'S PRIDE CORPORATION, et al.,) Case No. 08-45664 (DML)
Debtors.) (Jointly Administered)

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE RETENTION OF HOULIHAN LOKEY HOWARD & ZUKIN CAPITAL, INC. AS FINANCIAL ADVISOR TO THE OFFICIAL EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS' COMMITTEE

Upon the Application (the "Application") for Order Approving the *Nunc Pro Tunc* Employment and Retention of Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Capital, Inc. ("<u>Houlihan Lokey</u>") as Financial Advisor to the Official Equity Security Holders' Committee (the "Committee"); and upon the Limited Objection of Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors to the Application; the United States Trustee's Objection to the Application; and the Debtors' Limited Objection to the Application; and the Court having jurisdiction over the Application

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334; and consideration of the Application being a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2); and it appearing that notice of the Application was sufficient under the circumstances; and upon the hearing on the Application conducted on October 27, 2009 (the "Hearing"), and after due consideration of the Application and good cause appearing therefore, it is

ORDERED that the Application be, and it hereby is, granted, and the Committee is hereby authorized to employ and retain Houlihan Lokey as its financial advisor on the terms set forth herein and in the Application; and it is further

ORDERED that Houlihan Lokey shall be compensated in accordance with the Court's and Committee counsel's comments on the record at the Hearing; provided, however, that, as discussed on the record on December 30, 2008 in this case with respect to the retention of Lazard Freres & Co. ("Lazard") (excerpt attached hereto), such compensation shall be subject to approval by this Court, any order entered in these chapter 11 cases establishing procedures for interim compensation and reimbursement of expenses, the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rules and Local Rules and Coders of this Court; and it is further

ORDERED, that in determining the reasonableness of the Deferred Fee pursuant to the preceding paragraph, the Court will consider all applicable factors established by section 330 of the Bankruptcy Code and binding precedent; assessment of the Deferred Fee under section 330(a)(3)(F) will be based upon whether the Deferred Fee is comparable to the range of fees paid to investment bankers in comparable transactions both in and outside of bankruptcy court in this and other Districts; and provided that the number of hours spent by Houlihan Lokey's personnel during its engagement or during any given monthly period thereof shall not be the sole factor in

and of itself in determining the reasonableness of the Deferred Fee or the Monthly Fee. The court does not intend this provision as binding precedent in other chapter 11 proceedings;

ORDERED that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rules and Local Rules and Orders of this Court, the United States Trustee Guidelines or any other guideline regarding submission and approval of fee applications, in light of the services to be provided by Houlihan Lokey and the structure of Houlihan Lokey's compensation pursuant to the Engagement Letter, Houlihan Lokey and its professionals shall be excused from any requirement to maintain time records, as set forth in the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rules and Local Rules or orders of this Court not made specifically applicable to Houlihan Lokey or guidelines, provided, however, that, at the Court's request (or the Fee Review Committee) Houlihan Lokey shall instead present to the Court (or the Fee Review Committee, as appropriate) records (in summary format) that contain reasonably detailed descriptions of those services provided to the Committee, the approximate time expended in providing those services in half-hour increments and the individuals who provided the professional services; and it is further

ORDERED that Debtor is authorized and required to indemnify, hold harmless, provide contribution to and reimburse Houlihan Lokey, or any of its divisions, affiliates, current or former directors, officers, partners, members, agents or employees of Houlihan Lokey or any of its affiliates, or any person controlling Houlihan Lokey or its affiliates, current or former directors, officers, partners, members, agents or employees, pursuant to the Indemnification Provisions of the Engagement Letter, which is hereby approved (subject to the limitations imposed by the Court in connection with Lazard's retention, as set forth in the record excerpt attached hereto); it is further

ORDERED that this Court hereby retains jurisdiction to hear and determine all matters arising from or related to the implementation, interpretation and/or enforcement of the Engagement Letter and this Order during the pendency of these bankruptcy proceedings, and to adjust the terms of this Order if a Fee Review Committee is appointed in these cases; and it is further

ORDERED that to the extent there may be any inconsistency between the terms of the Application, the Engagement Letter or this Order, the terms of this Order shall govern; and it is further

ORDERED that the retention of Houlihan Lokey shall be effective as of June 22, 2009.

END OF ORDER

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS FORT WORTH DIVISION

In Re: Case No. 08-45664-day Jointly Administered	d 0, 2008 bers 24,
PILGRIM'S PRIDE CORPORATION, Debtors. Decket Number 30 MOTIONS [Docket Number 30 MOTIONS [Doc	0, 2008 bers 24,
Debtors. Debtor	bers 24,
10:30 a.m. Docket 10:30 a.m. Docket 11	bers 24,
3 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 57, 81, 120, 302] 9 TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE HONORABLE D. MICHAEL LYNN, UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE. 11 COURTROOM APPEARANCES: 12 For the Debtor: Stephen Youngman Vance Beagles	
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE HONORABLE D. MICHAEL LYNN, UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE. COURTROOM APPEARANCES: For the Debtor: Stephen Youngman Vance Beagles	34, 33,
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE HONORABLE D. MICHAEL LYNN, UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE. COURTROOM APPEARANCES: For the Debtor: Stephen Youngman Vance Beagles	
BEFORE THE HONORABLE D. MICHAEL LYNN, UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE. 11 COURTROOM APPEARANCES: 12 For the Debtor: Stephen Youngman Vance Beagles	
11 COURTROOM APPEARANCES: 12 For the Debtor: Stephen Youngman 13 Vance Beagles	
For the Debtor: Stephen Youngman Vance Beagles	
13 Vance Beagles	
WELL, GOIDHAL & MANGES.	T.T.D
200 Crescent Court, Suit Dallas, TX 75201-6950	te 300
15 (214) 746~7758	
16 Elisa Lemmer For the Debtor: WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES,	LLP
17 1395 Brickell Avenue, Su Miamı, FL 33131	uite 1200
18 (305) 577~3225	
For the Official Paul N. Silverstein Committee of Unsecured ANDREWS & KURTH LLP	
20 Creditors: 450 Lexington Avenue New York, NY 10017	
21 (212) 850~2819	
For the Official Jason S. Brookner Committee of Unsecured ANDREWS KURTH LLP	
23 Creditors: 1717 Main Street, Suite Dallas, TX 75201 (214) 659-4457	3700

25

1	COURTROOM APPEARANCES, cont	:'d.:
2	For the U.S. Trustee:	Lisa Lambert OFFICE OF THE UNITED STATES
4		TRUSTEE 1100 Commerce Street, Room 976 Dallas, TX 75242-1496
5		(214) 767-8967
6	For CoBank, ACB:	Louis R. Strubeck, Jr. Gregory M. Wilkes
7		FULBRIGHT & JAWORSKI LLP 2200 Ross Ave., Suite 2800
8		Dallas, TX 75201 (214) 855-8040
9	For Bank of Montreal and Harris N.A.:	James E. Spiotto
10	and harris N.A.:	CHAPMAN AND CUTLER 111 West Monroe Street
11		Chicago, IL 60603-4080 (312) 845-3763
12	For Bank of Montreal:	Stephen A. Goodwin CARRINGTON COLEMAN SLOMAN &
13		BLUMENTHAL, LLP 901 Main Street, Suite 5500
14		Dallas, TX 75202 (214) 855-3082
15	For Ernst & Young:	Josephine Garrett
16	1 va samoe u 10ung.	JOSEPHINE GARRETT, P.C. 3119 W. 5th Street
17		Fort Worth, TX 76107 (817) 335-5432
18	For Lazard Frères:	Sander L. Esserman
19		STUTZMAN BROMBERG ESSERMAN & PLIFKA
20		2323 Bryan Street, Suite 2200 Dallas, TX 75201
21		(214) 969-4910
22	For Deep East Texas Electric, Upshur County	Jason R. Searcy JASON R. SEARCY & ASSOCIATES, PC
23	Rural Electric Co-Op, El Dorado Water Utilities:	P. O. Box 3929 Longview, TX 75606
24		(903) 757-3399
25		

1	COURTROOM APPEARANCES, cont'd.:	
2	For Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC:	Bryan L. Elwood GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP
3	_	2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 5200 Dallas, TX 75201 (214) 665-3641
		•
5	For Fort Worth ISD:	D. Alexander Harrell BRACKETT & ELLIS, PC
6 7		100 Main Street Fort Worth, TX 76102 (817) 339-2481
8	For Bank of Montreal:	Clay M. Taylor
9	Tor Built of Moneteur.	KELLY, HART & HALLMAN LLP 201 Main Street, Suite 2500
10		Fort Worth, TX 76102 (817) 878-3566
11	Special Counsel for	David W. Parham
12	Pilgrım's Pride:	W. Crews Lott BAKER & MCKENZIE
13		2300 Trammel Crow Center 2001 Ross Avenue Dallas, TX 75201
14		(214) 978-3034
15	For Bo Pilgrım, Ken Pilgrım, and Pilgrim	Scott Mark DeWolf ROCHELLE MCCULLOUGH, LLP
16	Interests Ltd.:	101 E. Park Blvd., Suite 951 Plano, TX 75074
17		(972) 735-9088
18	For United Food & Commercial Workers	Sanford Ross Denison BAAB & DENISON, LLP
19	International Union (UFCW):	2777 N. Stemmons Freeway, Suite 1608
20	(OLCH),	Dallas, TX 75207 (214) 637-0750
21	Fow Conount Plantan	
22	For General Electric Capital Corporation:	Gregory A. Lowry LOCKE LORD BISSELL & LIDDELL LLP 2200 Ross Ave., Suite 2200
23		Dallas, TX 75201-6776 (214) 740-8707
24		(211) 110 0101
25		

1	COURTROOM APPEARANCES, cont'd.:	
2	For Fifth Third Leasing:	Kevin M. Lippman MUNSCH, HARDT, KOPF & HARR, P.C.
3		500 N. Akard Street, Suite 3800 Dallas, TX 75201-6659 (214) 855-7553
5	For the Municipal and	Cynthia Johnson Rerko
6	Cooperative Utilities:	CYNTHIA JOHNSON RERKO, P.C. 2605 Hibernia Street Dallas, TX 75204
7		(214) 965-9500
8	For Maine America, LLC:	Jeremy Mack JACKSON WALKER
9		901 Main Street, Suite 6000 Dallas, TX 75202
10		(214) 953-5876
11		Clarke Rogers FORSHEY & PROSTOK, LLP
12	Cooperative Utilities; Carroll EMC, Jackson EMC,	777 Main Street, Suite 1290
13	Rayle EMC, and City of Sumter, South Carolina:	Fort Worth, TX 76102 (817) 877-8855
14	For Marshall County Gas District:	Jay L. Krystinik POWELL GOLDSTEIN, LLP
15 16	31301130.	2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 3300 Dallas, TX 75201 (214) 721-8048
17	TELEPHONIC APPEARANCES:	
		D. I.M. Danash
18 19	For Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company:	David M. Bennett THOMPSON & KNIGHT, LLP 1722 Routh Street, Suite 1500
		Dallas, TX 75201-2533
20		(214) 969-1486
21	For United Food & Commercial Workers	Richard Seltzer COHEN, WEISS AND SIMON, LLP
22	International Union (UFCW):	330 West 42nd Street New York, NY 10036
23		(212) 356-0219
24	For International Paper:	Kenneth A. Rosen LOWENSTEIN SANDLER, PC
25		65 Livingston Avenue Roseland, NJ 07068 (973) 597-2548

TELEPHONIC APPEARANCES, cont'd.: 2 For Ernst & Young, LLP: John A. Simon FOLEY & LARDNER, LLP 3 One Detroit Center 500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 2700 4 Detroit, MI 48226 (313) 234-7117 5 For Ernst & Young, LLP: Michael P. Richman 6 FOLEY & LARDNER, LLP 90 Park Avenue 7 New York, NY 10016-1314 (212) 338-3409 8 For Ernst & Young: David Coley 9 Court Recorder: Sandy Maben UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 10 510 W. 10th Street 11 Fort Worth, TX 76102 (817) 333-6015 12 Transcription Service: Kathy Rehling 13 209 Bay Circle Coppell, TX 75019 14 (972) 304-1998 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 Proceedings recorded by electronic sound recording; 25 transcript produced by transcription service.

25

Ernst & Young as auditors and tax advisors to the Debtors.

My firm, Weil Gotshal & Manges, as counsel for the Debtors.

Lazard Frères and Company as the Debtors' investment banker.

Baker & McKenzie as special counsel to the Debtors. And CRG

Partners Group LLC as well as the retention of Mr. Snyder as

Chief Restructuring Officer, or the Court's approval of that

retention. And also on the docket is interim application for

Andrews Kurth as counsel to the statutory committee.

THE COURT: Are any of these contested?

MR. YOUNGMAN: Nominally, all are. There has been a limited objection filed by the DIP agent with respect to the Court's ability to review fees for reasonableness under the standards of Section 330, which I believe we'll have a separate presentation with respect to the Lazard retention and some modifications that have been made in that respect to the application that's on file.

With respect to the CRG Partners and Mr. Snyder application, Mr. Snyder and CRG have agreed to amend that application that they will file monthly statements in accordance with the interim compensation procedure in Sections 330 and 331 of the Code, subject to the Court's review under a reasonableness standard.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. YOUNGMAN: With respect to the Lazard retention, the Debtors did file that under Section 328 of the Bankruptcy

Code. We understood the Court's ruling in respect of issues on that. Given the market in which that retention was made, and given how we view Lazard's role going forward and with respect to the various constituency interests that may be represented, it is our desire to keep Lazard free from any kind of influence when they are making their valuation decisions and negotiating with the creditor bodies on plan issues.

That said, we recognize the Court's concern, and there has been some movement in that respect, and I would defer to Lazard's counsel to give the Court an update on discussions they've had with the Office of the United States Trustee and with respect to the Lazard retention.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you, Mr. Youngman.

MR. ESSERMAN: May I approach, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. ESSERMAN: Good morning, Your Honor. Sander
Esserman on behalf of Lazard. We've met with the U.S.
Trustee and we do have some modifications to the application
which we hope Your Honor will find acceptable. As regards
the United States Trustee and the Court, Lazard agrees that
the review can be a 330 review rather than a 328 review as to
those parties only.

Further, the U.S. Trustee had an issue with indemnification. For example, of counsel for Lazard -- in

this case, me -- making what I'll call routine appearances before the Court for routine fee applications and something that's sort of what I think the U.S. Trustee considers ordinary course, and wanted that carved out of the indemnification section. So that would be strictly on Lazard's tab only and not --

THE COURT: It would seem to me that Lazard, if it were representing a private client, at least I would think, would not be able to charge that client for legal advice it got in connection with its retention by that client or legal advice it got in connection with billing that client. And it would seem to me that a similar rule would be appropriate here.

MR. ESSERMAN: Well, what I was saying, Your Honor,

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. ESSERMAN: -- maybe inelegantly, --

THE COURT: No, I think you were saying the same thing.

MR. ESSERMAN: But yes, we certainly -- Lazard has certainly agreed to that and agreed that those charges are absorbed by Lazard.

THE COURT: Because you know we had one law firm in Mirant that tried to charge a bit over a half a million dollars for a conflicts check. And so --

1 MR. ESSERMAN: That's impressive. THE COURT: Those are the things that make things 2 3 like this happen in court. MR. ESSERMAN: Yeah. It's extraordinary. 4 never heard that. Anyway, needless to say, that's not going 5 6 to happen here. And with those two modifications on the 330 rights to be 8 given to the Court and the Trustee, --THE COURT: Let me ask you a question. Does that 10 mean that if I wish to review Lazard's application under Section 330, that no other party would be entitled to 11 12 participate in the hearing or --MR. ESSERMAN: Except for the U.S. Trustee. 13 THE COURT: All right. I'm not -- why could I not 14 allow -- why would, just under general rules of court, if 15 your partner from Lazard is sitting on the witness stand, why 16 could not Mr. Spiotto or Mr. Youngman or Mr. Silverstein 18 question him? 19 MR. ESSERMAN: I think that has to be in the 20 discretion of the Court. 21 THE COURT: If you're saying --MR. ESSERMAN: In other words, --22 THE COURT: If you're saying that I can allow 23 parties to participate in the hearing, that's one thing.

MR. ESSERMAN: I believe the Court can conduct the

25

hearing in any way the Court deems that to be the best way of presenting the issues to the Court. And if the Court deems that appropriate, I certainly would not disagree with that.

THE COURT: All right. All right. Go ahead.

MR. ESSERMAN: So, with those two modifications, we believe that any objection the U.S. Trustee has is resolved, first. Secondly, Mr. Aronson is in the courtroom --

THE COURT: Oh, I do have one other thing.

MR. ESSERMAN: Yes?

THE COURT: It would seem to me that, if we go to a Fee Committee, that the Committee ought to have, and the Court's expert, which is one of the reasons why it would be the Court's expert, ought to have the ability to review and comment on the fees of Lazard, as with any professional.

MR. ESSERMAN: That's fine, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. ESSERMAN: Finally, pursuant to the standing order and guidelines for the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas — in particular, Section G, Page 3, Number — on Page 3, Number 3, it's actually 1(g)(3) — for a 328 application, the compensation and expense reimbursement requested are billed at rates in accordance with practices no less favorable than those customarily employed by the applicant and generally accepted by the applicant's clients. That's the guideline, and we

1 ^

, 21

would proffer Mr. Aronson, who's a managing director of Lazard, who could make that statement and further, as evidence of such statement, has a hand-out. If I may approach?

THE COURT: All right.

PROFFER OF TESTIMONY OF DANIEL ARONSON

MR. ESSERMAN: Your Honor, Mr. Aronson, if called to testify, would state that this chart is something that was prepared under his supervision and control, that it surveys Chapter 11 cases and fees charged by not only Lazard but other financial advisors. That the pre-2008 cases are basically limited to \$2 billion to \$3 billion cases. The post-2008 is a \$500 million to \$3 billion range.

Furthermore, Lazard's fees are at the bottom -- as proposed to be charged are at the bottom of this chart and are within the purview of fees customarily charged and those employed by the applicant and accepted by the applicant's clients in conformance with the Rule.

Lazard would also -- has five restructuring professionals working on this case and access to five M&A bankers, including one would be at the company probably two days a week. In addition, Lazard will keep timesheets, although they're investment banker-type timesheets rather than lawyer-type detail timesheets which are necessary.

THE COURT: So it's going to say "Month of July, 300

hours work," right? 1 2 MR. ESSERMAN: Hopefully not -- not quite that 3 general. 4 THE COURT: That's an old John King timesheet. 5 MR. ESSERMAN: Yes. Hopefully, a little more detail 6 than that. 7 Anyway, with those -- with that proffer, Mr. Aronson is 8 available and in the courtroom today should anyone wish to ask him any questions in connection with his retention, or 10 the Court. THE COURT: Does anyone wish to examine Mr. Aronson? 11 12 (No response.) 13 MR. ESSERMAN: Thank you. 14 THE COURT: Okay. 15 MR. ESSERMAN: Nothing further. 16 THE COURT: Mr. Spiotto? Or were you just 17 twitching? 18 MR. SPIOTTO: I was twitching, Your Honor. 19 THE COURT: Okay. Fine. Thank you. Well, just a minute, before we go on. Just a minute, Ms. 20 Lambert. Let me have Mr. Esserman back for just a second. 21 I just want to be sure that I understand, and I want it 22 very clear. My view is that I am not going to have a problem 23 paying Lazard for its work, but I want it very clear, and I'm

going to trust you, the United States Trustee, and the

Debtors' lawyer to ensure that the order doesn't trap me the 1 2 way I was trapped in Mirant. MR. ESSERMAN: Absolutely correct, Your Honor. 3 THE COURT: And --4 MR. ESSERMAN: We would never do that. And --5 6 THE COURT: I know you wouldn't. 7 MR. ESSERMAN: I value my life. 8 (Laughter.) THE COURT: Yes. You value your future fee 9 applications. Let's be honest about this. But no, all 10 11 right. So as I understand it, we are in agreement, then. 12 understand what is being presented here, and this will be of 13 14 greater consideration at the end when I'm judging compensation, rather than when I'm judging employment. Do we 15 16 agree on that? 17 MR. ESSERMAN: Yes, Your Honor. THE COURT: Okay. And we're in agreement that --18 and Lazard is free to convince me, if the issue arises at 19 all, that they did work that was worthy of the fees they're 20 seeking or that they obtained results that are worthy of the 21 22 fees that they are seeking? MR. ESSERMAN: That is correct, Your Honor. 23 THE COURT: But that they do not say and will not 24

say, as Houlihan did in the Mirant case, that, "It doesn't

25

1 matter what we did. You have no choice. You've got to pay
2 us whatever we ask." Right?

MR. ESSERMAN: You are correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Good. Then let me go ahead.

Let's start with the U.S. Trustee and work our way to the

right. Thank you, Mr. Esserman.

MR. ESSERMAN: Thank you.

MS. LAMBERT: Your Honor, the U.S. Trustee had one clarification with respect to that, which is a universal clarification on the indemnification. The language says finally adjudicated as -- on the indemnification -- as will... the exclusion for willful or intentional conduct refers to finally non-appealable adjudicated. And the U.S. Trustee has asked that it just be at a point of preclusive effect.

In other words, if you get a judgment that the conduct was willful but it's subject to appeal, it would be given preclusive effect so that the indemnification is not subject to triggering while a case is on appeal after a finding of willful or malicious or intentional conduct.

THE COURT: All right.

MS. LAMBERT: And we have also asked, for all of the employment applications that involve indemnification, that the tailoring include the *Heartland*-type language which is similar to what the Court just mentioned in terms of basic

bankruptcy retention and fee issues not being subject to reimbursement.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Youngman, I don't know whether -- and this is not something that I'm going to impose, but, again, in the past, I have once or twice entered an order providing -- that essentially tracks the language of plan exculpation provisions that prevents suit against any professionals, Committee members, officers or directors during a case without leave of the Court, which will be granted only in cases where indemnification would be inappropriate, in lieu of indemnification.

I don't know whether that would be something that the parties would like to consider here, but if you are interested in that, we can take it up in the status conference. All right?

All right. Mr. Spiotto?

MR. SPIOTTO: Thank you, Your Honor. James Spiotto for the DIP agent.

Your Honor, we did file an objection, a limited objection to this, precisely based upon your ruling in Mirant and some other cases. And the issue which -- and I was unclear as to whether or not this has really been, you know, addressed -- is that this -- the review, you know, because they brought it under 328 and they're asking for an order under it, you know, that the order should say that the reasonableness review

under 330 is applicable.

There are provisions in the motion that talk about a success fee or a restructuring fee of \$6.5 million.

Obviously, as we mention in our objection, fees for success or restructuring can be judged and should be judged at the end of the case, and parties in interest should have a right to comment on that as to whether or not the money has been earned. No one wants to take away the right to be paid for what has been earned, but, again, we cannot prejudge what is reasonable and appropriate at this time.

THE COURT: All right. I don't disagree with that, and my understanding from my colloquy with Mr. Esserman is that, while the issue, in order for the issue of reasonableness to be raised must be raised by the Court, the United States Trustee, or the Fee Committee, that nevertheless, once that is done during a hearing, the Court can allow participation to determine reasonableness as is appropriate.

It's my further understanding that notwithstanding the references to Section 328 -- and we all understand, and I know, Mr. Esserman, you've explained to Lazard, we have peculiar law in the Fifth Circuit that gives bankruptcy judges serious heartburn once the numbers 328 are invoked. In other circuits, I don't know that this is so, but in this circuit there's unfortunately some case law that restricts

the bankruptcy judge dramatically in assessing fees once a 328 order is entered.

But it is my understanding that to the extent that this application would be granted under Section 328, it nevertheless would be subject to Section 330 as has been discussed on this record.

Am I correct, Mr. Esserman?

MR. ESSERMAN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Youngman?

MR. YOUNGMAN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. And I would suggest perhaps that we make reference and incorporate this record into the order granting the application.

MR. SPIOTTO: Right. Your Honor, one question I have about that is, if there is an issue that a party in interest, such as a DIP agent who may very well represent the DIP lenders who will be winding up paying or advancing money to make the payment, there should be, I think, a way in which they could present to the Court an issue or a concern which they have which may not at the time otherwise be evident. I would think that as a party in interest that would be appropriate. I think that's what 330 is about.

THE COURT: Well, --

MR. SPIOTTO: It seems to me the procedure may not allow for input unless it's specifically requested.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, here, let me give you two comments on that that may give you some comfort. Three comments, Mr. Spiotto.

The first is, if you submit something, I don't believe that I can prevent you from telling me something if you want to tell me. Whether I listen is another question, and whether I consider it is another question.

Secondly, if a Fee Committee is established, the agent will have at least one and conceivably two seats, because, as I understand, there are two separate agents.

MR. SPIOTTO: Yes, Your Honor.

on the Committee. And if the Committee is empowered to review fees, then under those circumstances the agent would have the ability to raise those issues through the Committee. And I just -- I understand what you're saying. I would prefer to have it be ordinary and normal, but I'm reluctant at this point to kick over the table and say, "Go back and start over again." It sounds to me like we're going to get where I think all the lawyers believe we should go on this.

MR. SPIOTTO: Okay.

THE COURT: We just may not get there in accordance with the ordinary and normal pathway.

MR. SPIOTTO: Right. One other issue, Your Honor. THE COURT: All right.

MR. SPIOTTO: And I think this is the last.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SPIOTTO: There is reference to sales of assets. And again, I think that's similar to a restructuring fee. It may be, and we believe this debtor does have the capacity to actually consider marketing and selling assets if it decides that's the right thing to do, by itself. It may mean that they have to engage others. But again, we don't believe any asset sale, no matter its size, should be predetermined to be

THE COURT: That's one of the problems with the success fee, is the way it was -- again, and I hate to keep referring to Mirant, but the way the success fees were referred to in Mirant was if any debtor sells its assets or if any debtor confirms a plan, then that will trigger the success fee. And obviously, if the Debtor here sells a thousand chickens, that should not --

MR. SPIOTTO: Right.

THE COURT: -- trigger the success fee.

I think you can safely assume, Mr. Spiotto, that either the Committee, the U.S. Trustee, or the Court would home in on that and you would have your opportunity to participate in a hearing where they would have to justify any success fee on that basis.

And I don't see this being a problem. My expectation,

based on prior experience with Lazard, is that I'm not going to have the kind of problems with them that I've had with let 3 us say just other financial advisors in the past. 4 MR. SPIOTTO: Right. All right, Your Honor. And 5 obviously, you know, that is important because various parties may have a security interest or something in the 7 proceeds --8 THE COURT: Right. 9 MR. SPIOTTO: -- and it becomes then a matter of 10 interest. 11 THE COURT: And the other problem is they may hire 12 someone who does the sale, and then who should get credit for 13 the sale: the person who does the sale, the auctioneer, or 14 the investment banker, or both? 15 MR. SPIOTTO: Right, Your Honor. THE COURT: And that's one of the problems here, is 16 17 we wind up with seven parties, each with an investment advisor, as opposed to in the real world where you have one or two investment advisors who are putting together the deal. 19 20 MR. SPIOTTO: Right. 21 THE COURT: Okay. MR. SPIOTTO: We appreciate that. We appreciate 22 23 your time listening to the issues. THE COURT: All right. Then I'm going to request 24

that we include, if it's all right with you, Mr. Esserman and

1

Mr. Youngman, a reference incorporating this record into any 1 order approving Lazard's retention so that we're all clear as 2 3 to what we meant. Is that okay, Mr. Esserman? MR. ESSERMAN: May I approach? 5 THE COURT: Sure. It scares me when you say you 6 want to approach. He's bigger than I am. 7 MR. ESSERMAN: Well, just say yes. 8 THE COURT: Oh, okay. Good. MR. ESSERMAN: And furthermore, I did want to note 9 for Mr. Spiotto that sales fees are credited against the 10 11 success fee under the Lazard engagement. The only thing that's been said that gives me pause, and 12 I don't know that it's going to be unacceptable, is the issue 13 that Ms. Lambert raised on the finding for the 14 indemnification to occur ultimately versus, say, this Court 15 has the finding, at which time the indemnification would cut 16 off only probably to be reinstated if, say, it's reversed 17 later on. 18 The way the wording of the engagement is now, it's -- the 19 indemnification's cut off at final order. Ms. Lambert wanted 20 a modification of that. I'm not saying no to that 21 22 modification. THE COURT: Uh-huh. 23 MR. ESSERMAN: I just don't have authority, and Mr. 24

Aronson in the court --

THE COURT: It seems -- it seems to me --MR. ESSERMAN: -- in the courtroom today doesn't have --THE COURT: I would have two comments on that. One is the exculpatory order may give some help here. And the second thought is that it seems to me that if I say that we have a willful and malicious act on Lazard's part, which I think is unlikely, but if we did have that and ultimately Fifth Circuit says no, it wasn't that at all, that Fifth Circuit's decision would relate back and would cover the 11 interim period. And I presume the U.S. Trustee would not 12 have a problem with that. And that may solve what -- if I

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

MR. ESSERMAN: Yes.

understand your concern --

THE COURT: -- and Ms. Lambert's concern, that may give both of you --

MR. ESSERMAN: That would -- that was my understanding about how it would work also, Your Honor.

The only thing is, with the indemnification issues, Mr. Aronson, who's in the courtroom today, is a managing director of Lazard, but on the indemnification issues he can't agree to the modification. He's got to take it back to Lazard.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. ESSERMAN: We're not necessarily anticipating --THE COURT: Okay.

1 MR. ESSERMAN: -- a problem with that modification 2 or that change. 3 THE COURT: All right. 4 MR. ESSERMAN: But we'll get --5 THE COURT: Well, we'll just -- we'll defer the 6 order. MR. ESSERMAN: We'll save it for the order. 7 8 THE COURT: All right. That sounds good. 9 MR. ESSERMAN: Okay. Thank you. 10 THE COURT: Mr. Silverstein? 11 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Your Honor, I have two comments, 12 very briefly. 13 We -- I'm sorry. Thank you. Paul Silverstein, Andrews Kurth, for the Committee. We, Your Honor, did not file an objection because we're 15 well aware that Your Honor is very sensitive to the issues. 16 We understand that the order's being revised. We've not seen 17 the order. The Court is reserving discretion, as I 18 understand it, to determine who can participate in any 19 hearing that may occur regarding reasonableness. We're fine 20 with that. I think the order should be clear on that. 21 What we don't want is that, until Your Honor, you know, 22 invites people in, we'd prefer no unnecessary projects from 23 the various parties in interest on the subject. So I'd --25 THE COURT: All right.

```
1
            MR. SILVERSTEIN: -- somehow appreciate it if Your
   Honor could control that process, if and when it happens, and
2
3
   hopefully it won't happen. Based on what Mr. Esserman says,
   it won't happen, but you know, you'll reach that point.
5
            THE COURT: All right. I'm not sure that -- try
6
   that again on me. I think I --
7
            MR. SILVERSTEIN: Well, what I'm saying is that we
8
   are fine with the process where Your Honor has --
            THE COURT: Yes.
9
            MR. SILVERSTEIN: -- the discretion to determine who
10
11
12
            THE COURT: Right.
            MR. SILVERSTEIN: -- participates in any hearing on
13
   reasonableness of fees.
14
15
            THE COURT: Right.
            MR. SILVERSTEIN: Essentially, a quasi-330 approach.
16
            THE COURT: I think you can assume that I would
17
18
    exercise my discretion broadly.
            MR. SILVERSTEIN: I absolutely do assume that.
19
20
    That's why we're fine with that.
21
             THE COURT: Yes.
            MR. SILVERSTEIN: We would also urge the parties not
22
    to sort of gun-jump that by making projects out of
23
   reasonableness before Your Honor --
24
25
             THE COURT: No, I --
```

1 MR. SILVERSTEIN: -- says who --2 THE COURT: I would expect not, and that's one of the reasons why the Committee, I think, will serve a useful 3 function in providing sort of a filter for --4 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Yes. I think that's right. 5 6 THE COURT: -- those issues. 7 All right. Anybody have anything else? 8 (No response.) THE COURT: All right. Well, contingent upon the 9 parties being able to agree to the form of order approving 10 Lazard's retention, I will approve Lazard's retention. 11 And what's next, Mr. -- I'll tell you what, Mr. Youngman. 12 Why don't we take a short recess for about ten minutes, and 13 then we'll resume? And I presume the next matter is the 14 15 financing order? MR. YOUNGMAN: It is, Your Honor. If I could have 16 17 two minutes before we go to that? 18 THE COURT: Okay. Sure. MR. YOUNGMAN: First, I would ask you to go ahead 19 and approve the retention of the other professionals. 20 THE COURT: Yes. They will all be approved. 21 MR. YOUNGMAN: And we will have to submit a revised 22 order for CRG Partners to reflect --23 24 THE COURT: All right. MR. YOUNGMAN: -- the filing of monthly statements. 25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTICE

The following entities were noticed by first class mail on Oct 29, 2009.

aty +Stephen A. Youngman, Weil, Gotshal & Manges, 200 Crescent Court, Suite 300,

Dallas, TX 75201-6903

The following entities were noticed by electronic transmission. $_{\mbox{\scriptsize NOME}}$

TOTAL: 0

***** BYPASSED RECIPIENTS *****

NONE. TOTAL: 0

Addresses marked '+' were corrected by inserting the ZIP or replacing an incorrect ZIP. USPS regulations require that automation-compatible mail display the correct ZIP.

I, Joseph Speetjens, declare under the penalty of perjury that I have sent the attached document to the above listed entities in the manner shown, and prepared the Certificate of Notice and that it is true and correct to the best of my information and belief.

Meeting of Creditor Notices only (Official Form 9): Pursuant to Fed. R. Bank. P. 2002(a)(1), a notice containing the complete Social Security Number (SSN) of the debtor(s) was furnished to all parties listed. This official court copy contains the redacted SSN as required by the bankruptcy rules and the Judiciary's privacy policies.

Date: Oct 29, 2009 Signa

Joseph Spections